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First People of the Brunswick 
 

Preamble 
  

This abridged story on our local Indigenes is summarised from documented whitefella history. No 
Brunswick/Durungbil descendants could be traced to help flesh-out the pre-Britannian society or to give an 
Aboriginal perspective on the process and aftermath of colonisation. Nor is BVHS privy to anthropological or 
ŀǊŎƘŀŜƻƭƻƎƛŎŀƭ ǊŜǇƻǊǘǎ ŎƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴŜŘ ōȅ .ȅǊƻƴ {ƘƛǊŜΩǎ Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Study. 
Our own library and archive resources, supplemented by various reliable websites and newspapers via Trove, were 
the main sources of information. (Not to forget the local history section at the Byron Bay library and the archiving 
work of librarian Pat Kranz). So far only limited research has been carried out in the NSW State Records Office and 
State Library. It is a work in progress and will be updated as required. (Last updated 20Feb2023). 
 

Cautionary Note  
 

Some of the quotes from the documents and newspapers of yesteryear express attitudes and beliefs held by 
Caucasian Australians towards Aboriginal Australians that may cause distress. But in the interests of historical 
veracity we have decided to leave such quotes unedited and without qualification or comment. 
And Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People are forewarned that this ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪΩǎ LƴŘƛƎŜƴƻǳǎ 
background contains images and names of people who have died. 
 

Disclaimer 
 

The draft was researched and written by non-indigenous BVHS volunteers who have no specialist qualifications in 
Aboriginal history, culture or language. It ǿŀǎ ǇŀǎǎŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ Ψ¢ǿŜŜŘ .ȅǊƻƴ [ƻŎŀƭ !ōƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ [ŀƴŘ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩ and the 
ΨBundjalung of Byron Bay Aboriginal Corporation (Arakwal)Ω ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŀŘǾƛŎŜ on any corrections, deletions or 
amplifications deemed necessary to reconcile possible differences in historical perspectives and to ensure there 
were no unwitting transgressions into culturally sensitive areas. 
TBLALC did not respond, while the Board of Directors of the Arakwal Corporation, a registered charity, eventually 
decided that it would be more appropriate for the Arakwal People to present their own history, and to this end 
BVHS considerably reduced Arakwal references in the final draft. But the Brunswick and Byron clans were too 
closely intertwined to entirely exclude the Arakwal (or Bumberlin) from the story. 
!ǘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƛƳŜ ǘƘŜ CŜŘŜǊŀƭ /ƻǳǊǘ ǿŀǎ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ !Ǌŀƪǿŀƭ /ƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ ŎƭŀƛƳ ŦƻǊ ƴŀǘƛǾŜ ǘƛǘƭŜ ǊƛƎƘǘǎ ƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ 
up to and including the Brunswick River, probably the prompt for the Arakwal request that this introduction includes 
the following non-specific disclaimer: 
 

The Bundjalung of Byron Bay Arakwal people do not endorse the information provided in the document 
ti tlŜŘ ΨCƛǊǎǘ tŜƻǇƭŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪΩ ŀǎ ŀƴ ŀŎŎǳǊŀǘŜ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ !Ǌŀƪǿŀƭ ƻǊ .ǳƴŘƧŀƭǳƴƎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ 
early times of contact with Europeans on our lands.  

 

People wishing to learn about the First People of this area, their history, their culture and their ongoing 
connection to Country are invited to explore our website: http://arakwal.com.au/  

 

Since then the Federal Court has granted the Arakwal claim, giving its imprimatur to the erection of an Information 
.ƻŀǊŘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ aǳƭƭǳƳōƛƳōȅ DŀǘŜǿŀȅ wƻǘǳƴŘŀ ƘŜŀŘŜŘ Ψ²ŜƭŎƻƳŜ ǘƻ !Ǌŀƪǿŀƭ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅΩΣ but leaving considerable 
confusion over the historical status of the Durungbil and Minjungbal. 
 

BVHS acknowledges !ōƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ ŀƴŘ ¢ƻǊǊŜǎ {ǘǊŀƛǘ LǎƭŀƴŘŜǊ ǇŜƻǇƭŜ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ǘǊŀŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ƻǿƴŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘƛǎ ƭŀƴŘ and pay 
our respects to their history, their living culture and to Elders past and present. 

  

http://arakwal.com.au/
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First People of the Brunswick 
 

The Brunswick features as a significant landmark in a version of the creation legend of The Three Brothers, 
documented by the Rev Hugh Livingstone, Presbyterian Minister on the Richmond 1876-86.1 He called the local 
dialect 'Minyung' (the users of which were dubbed the 'Minyangbal'), which is spoken at Byron Bay and on the 
Brunswick RiverΧΦ He recorded that Long ago, Berrug, with his two brothers, Mommom and Yaburog, came to this 
land... ƛƴ ŀ ƎǊŜŀǘ ŎŀƴƻŜΣ ŦǊƻƳ ŀƴ ƛǎƭŀƴŘ ŀŎǊƻǎǎ ǘƘŜ ǎŜŀΧ and after visiting the Tweed came back to the Brunswick 
River, where he made a fire, and showed the paigal how to make fire. He taught them the laws about the kippara, 
and about marriage and food..., and thus the Brunswick can claim one of the first Bora Rings in the neighbourhood.2 
 

Although boundaries remain a vexed issue, most authorities 
accept that our local Byron-Brunswick Aboriginal Clans, sharing a 
common dialect under the umbrella of the 
Minyangbal/Minjungbal/Minyungbul People, were custodians of 
the coastal strip from Broken Head to Wooyung. (Coincidentally, 
these boundaries defined the later Byron {ƘƛǊŜΣ ǿƘƛƭŜ ǘƘŜ ΨPolice 
District of Tweed RiverΣΩ ŦƻǊƳŜŘ ƛƴ мусрΣ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ƛƴǘŜǊƛƳ ǿƘƛǘŜ 
governance over the area from Broken Head to the Queensland 
border). 
 

The earliest public account of contact between the Indigenes and 
the Colonisers was given by Captain William Barkus via articles in 
The Australian of 11Jan1828 and the Sydney Gazette of 
22Aug1829. He had been tasked with searching for a wreck 
reported by some men who had been runaways from Moreton 
Bay.... At midday on 5Sep1827 he and a whale boat crew went 
ashore at the yet to be named Richmond River, but then 
determined upon returning to Moreton Bay overland..., making 
their first camp somewhere in the vicinity of Cape Byron. At one 
PM next day we fell in with a party of natives, who seemed not to 
be amicably inclined towards us.... Ψ²Ŝ crossed the river yet to be 
branded Brunswick after travelling up the south bankΩ and Upon 
reaching the opposite bank, we cut through the bush, to avoid the 
natives, who we suspected were inclined to disburthen us further 
of clothing. They dogged us, however; what they wanted in 
number making up by stratagem, and by that means succeeded in 
depriving some of the seamen of their hats and other articles, 
which were immediately divided in shares amongst them, and 
hung round their heads.... After accompanying us for full three hours hard toiling over a soft sandy beach, they dropt 
off entirely..., probably suggesting a tribal boundary around Wooyung. Ψ²Ŝ eventually crossed the Tweed whereΧ 
¢ƘŜ ƴŀǘƛǾŜǎΩ Ƙǳǘǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǾŜǊȅ ƴǳƳŜǊƻǳǎΦΦΦ and I suppose they were sufficient to hold a body of three hundred men.... 
Ψ²Ŝ reached the Logan River on the evening of 8Sep1827Ω. 

 
1 Rev LivingstoneΩǎ linguistic study ǿŀǎ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴ WƻƘƴ CǊŀǎŜǊΩǎ A Short GRAMMAR and VOCABULARY of the DIALECT spoken 
by the MINYUG PEOPLE of the north-east coast of New South Wales, which was carried as Appendix A in An Australian 
Language as spoken by the AWABAKAL; The People of AWABA or LAKE MACQUARIE; Being an account of Their Languages, 
Traditions, and customs, by L.E. Threlkeld, produced by the Government Printer, 1892. Viewable at 
https://archive.org/stream/australianlangua00threrich#page/n321/mode/2up 
(Rev LivingstonŜ ŘƻŜǎ ƴƻǘ ǳǎŜ ǘƘŜ ƴŀƳŜǎ /ŀǾŀƴōŀƘ ŀƴŘ 5ǳǊǳƴƎōƛƭ ŦƻǊ Ψ.ȅǊƻƴ .ŀȅΩ ŀƴŘ Ψ.ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪ wƛǾŜǊΩΦύ 
2 An Aboriginal Heritage Study of a traditional Pathway, Linking Coastal and Upland Resources, Northern New South Wales, 
by Ian Fox 2003, pgs 31, 41, 52. This study records numerous Aboriginal camp sites and middens within the Billinudgel Nature 
Reserve, including a Bora Ring in the northern part of the Reserve towards Wooyung, considered of great importance as the 
place where the Three Brothers first made the LoreΧ. 
Also see Billinudgel Nature Reserve plan of management (PDF - 272KB) (nsw.gov.au) pg 9, and  
epbc_yelgun_nhl-nomination-form_14-11-2011_redacted.pdf (nsw.gov.au) pgs 5, 14, (and Fig 2 for extent of Aboriginal sites) 
 

 
'An Australian of the Minyung Tribe' is the 
caption accompanying this studio portrait in 
John Fraser's 1892 book 'The Aborigines of New 
South Wales', although the photo is now known 
to have come from the collection of J.W. Lindt, a 
Grafton-based photographer 1868-76.  
(The splendid warrior depicted is a 'made-man', 
having passed the 'kippara' and received scars on 
his breast and back.) 

https://archive.org/stream/australianlangua00threrich#page/n321/mode/2up
https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/-/media/OEH/Corporate-Site/Documents/Parks-reserves-and-protected-areas/Parks-plans-of-management/billinudgel-nature-reserve-plan-of-management-000090.pdf
https://www.ipcn.nsw.gov.au/resources/pac/media/files/pac/project-submissions/2018/11/north-byron-parklands-cultural-events-site-ssd-8169-and-mp-09-0028-mod-5/20181217t153940/epbc_yelgun_nhl-nomination-form_14-11-2011_redacted.pdf
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Between ~1824 and ~1840 a few of the bolters from the 
penal settlement at Moreton Bay made it to the 
colonial outpost at Port Macquarie, some passing 
through the Brunswick and leaving a lamentable 
legacy.3 But apart from their ambiguous record, the 
next documented visit to the Brunswick was that of 
surveyor Robert Dixon and his team in 1840.4 However, 
whilst noting the presence of Aboriginals at Cape Byron (where we found a tribe of natives with their nets fishing..., 
who were fine looking men... and with the assistance of two natives we got to the top of the steep Broken Cliff...), 
and the Richmond (where The natives had come in such numbers...), he makes no reference to those of the 
Brunswick. Over the period of his two-week sojourn on the north head of the Brunswick he either deemed his 
encounters with the resident Aboriginal clan not worth recording or there were none to report, just as Captain 
Barkus ƴƻǘŜŘ ƴƻ .ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪ ΨǎŜǘǘƭŜƳŜƴǘΩ (although Barkus had bypassed the high ground around Kings Creek, 
possibly home to the major camp in the area - see map page 11.) 
 

The first semi-permanent whitefellasΩ camp between the Tweed and Ballina was established on the North Head of 
the Brunswick by John and Thomas Boyd of the Tweed in ~1848. As best can be determined from the ΨǎƘƛǇǇƛƴƎ 
ƴŜǿǎΩ ƛƴ ǾŀǊƛƻǳǎ ƴŜǿǎǇŀǇŜǊǎ their last consignment of cedar to Sydney was in Apr1851, after which the place 
became a white ghost town until four ships appeared on the horizon in 1858. Then followed one in each of the 
years 1859/1861/1862 and none until 1867, by which time cedar-getters from Ballina and Tintenbar had become 
regular visitors, prompting Robert Marshall to establish a permanent base on the south side. (!ƴŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜƴ ΨǎǳǊŦƛƴƎΩ 
was in vogue for taking logs directly to ships anchored offshore, so bypassing the treacherous river entrance.) 

 
3 The Colonist of 17Dec1835 published Copies of Statements made at different times before the resident Police Magistrate, 
Port Macquarie, by runaway Prisoners of the Crown from the Penal Settlement at Moreton Bay..., a couple of whom merely 
implied the existence of the un-named Brunswick.  
!ǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ΨƭŀƳŜƴǘŀōƭŜ ŘƛǎŜŀǎŜ ƭŜƎŀŎȅΩ, the SMH of 30Apr1832 reported that In October 1831 the disease όΨ9ǊǳǇǘƛǾŜ CŜōǊƛƭŜ 
5ƛǎŜŀǎŜΩύ was conveyed to Port Macquarie by means of a prisoner, who had absconded from Moreton Bay, and on his way 
met with a tribe of the Aborigines at Black Rock River (the Richmond), a great number of whom were labouring under 
symptoms of Small-pox.... The Trial Bay Blacks... also were attacked with the disease, and from them it spread generally 
through different tribes.... 
4 Dixon's Field Notebooks available at State Library of Queensland, Brunswick pages 22-38. A copy of his 5-page report to the 
Surveyor General 3Aug1840 (ref NSW State Archives Reel 3063, letter no. 40/54), available BVHS. Dixon initially arrived 
on the Brunswick by packhorse 17Jun40, probably making camp on the North Head, but returned to Point Danger 2 days 
later, prior to a longer Brunswick sojourn by boat 23Jun40. He also records Aboriginal presence on the Tweed. (And his Field 
Books are the earliest references, so far sighted, that the name Ψ.ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪΩ ƘŀŘ ōŜŜƴ ōŜǎǘƻǿŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎǳōƧŜŎǘ ǊƛǾŜǊύΦ 

 
.ǳƴŘƧŀƭǳƴƎ 5ƛŀƭŜŎǘ !ǊŜŀǎ Ψas ŜƴǾƛǎŀƎŜŘ ōȅ bΦ/Φ YŜŀǘǎΩ. 

(Note that other authorities have other ideas - Ethnologist 
Meston implies the Aboriginals of Cape Byron and 

Currumbin shared the same dialect; Anthropologist Tindale 
says the Minjungbal ranged as far as Southport; Linguist 

Sharpe says the Minjungbal of the Brunswick shared ~90% 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜƛǊ ǿƻǊŘǎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ bƎŀƴŘǳǿŀƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ¢ǿŜŜŘΤΧΦ) 

(/ƻǳǊǘŜǎȅ YŜŀǘǎΩ ōƻƻƪ Ψ²ƻƭƭǳƳōƛƴΩΣ self-published 1988) 

 
First People of the Tweed (Courtesy Ian Fox)  

(Most of the Tweed Aboriginal Community now accept that 
there were only three main clans on the Tweed, overriding 

the many assorted labels affixed by European settlers 
through the years.) 
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Traditional clan boundaries rapidly broke down in the face of the new paradigm wrought by white settlement. By 
the time Marshall turned up in 1866 the Aboriginals of the Brunswick could be found assisting the cedar-getters as 
far south as Ballina (home of the Nyangbal) and over the ridge line into Wiyabal territory ƻƴ ǘƘŜ Ψ.ƛƎ {ŎǊǳōΩ ǇƭŀǘŜŀǳ, 
while at least one member of Byron's Bumberlin Clan is known to have made his home in Goodjinburra country.  

 

Whilst ethnologist Archie Meston ŎƭŀƛƳŜŘ ǘƘŜ .ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪ ǿŀǎ ƘƻƳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ΨMinyahgo-Whallo tribeΩ (probably his 
term for ΨaƛƴƧǳƴgōŀƭ tŜƻǇƭŜΩύΣ it is now generally accepted that the Du-rung-bil Clan, a sub-group under the 
aƛƴƧǳƴƎōŀƭ ǳƳōǊŜƭƭŀΣ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ .ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪΩǎ ǘǊŀŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŎǳǎǘƻŘƛŀƴΦ The cedar-getters acknowledged 'Drumble CharlieΩ 
as ΨKing of the Brunswick Blacks' sometime pre1871. He roamed a wide area and first comes to notice in Dec1865 
at Tintenbar in the employ of cedar-getter Dick Glascott,5 who also recorded ΨDrumble /ƘŀǊƭŜȅ ŀƴŘ Ƙƛǎ ƎƛƴΩ at 

 
5 The Glascott Diaries; The Diaries and Account Books of Richard Donovan Glascott, A Timber-getter on the Richmond River in 
the 1860s and 1870s, edited by Marlene Lester, Ballina 2001. (Copy available BVHS). 

 
 Enhanced Map of Yugambeh-Bundjalung Dialect Areas as defined by Prof Terry Crowley. 

The unadorned version of this map first appeared in Dr CrowleyΩǎ The middle Clarence dialects 
of Bandjalang, published by AIAS, Canberra, 1978, pg 158, and has been reprinted in the work 
of a number of linguistic authorities, notably Dr Margaret Sharpe.  
In her article 'Bundjalung settlement and migration', published in Aboriginal History, Vol.9, part 
1, 1985, an amended version of the map shows the Birihn replacing the Minyangbal and the 
Minyangbal displacing the Nganduwal. (see Aboriginal History Journal: Volume 9 (anu.edu.au).) 
She defines Birihn/Birihnbal as ΨǎƻǳǘƘΩΣ ΨǎƻǳǘƘ ǇŜƻǇƭŜΩΣ ŀǇǇƭƛŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘƻǎŜ ŀǊƻǳƴŘ wŀǇǇǾƛƭƭŜ 
(Crowley 1978:156)ΧΣ and ōȅ ǘƘƻǎŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ¢ǿŜŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘƻǎŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ wƛŎƘƳƻƴŘΧΦ 
The 1998 map accompanying her Dictionary of Yugambeh including Neighbouring Dialects at  
PL-C139 (10).pdf includes ǘƘŜ ¢ǿŜŜŘ ŀƴŘ .ȅǊƻƴ ŀǊŜŀǎ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ΨƴŜƛƎƘōƻǳǊƛƴƎ ŘƛŀƭŜŎǘǎΩΦ 
The ̧ ǳƎŀƳōŜƘΣ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎƛƴƎ ƴƛƴŜ ŘƛŀƭŜŎǘ ŎƭǳǎǘŜǊǎΣ ŀǊŜ ƴƻǿ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ Ψdistinct homogenous 
ƭƛƴƎǳƛǎǘƛŎ ƎǊƻǳǇΩ, and have honoured the part played by Dr Sharpe at  UNE lecturer declared a 
ΨŎƘŀƳǇƛƻƴΩ ƻŦ !ōƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ ƭŀƴƎǳŀƎŜ - University of New England (UNE) 

Crowley says (1978:150) that though very closely related, Minjangbal seems to be distinct from 

its northerly neighbour, Nganduwal, with which it shares between 85% and 90% of its ǾƻŎŀōΧΦ 
 

Over the years there has been conflict and confusion in the diverse delineations of dialect areas 
made by various linguists in their attempt to bring clarity to a complex issue. 

The Yugambeh ŎƭŀƛƳ ǘƘŜ ¢ǿŜŜŘΩǎ 
Cudgenburra/Goodjinburra and 
Tulgigin Clans, collectively known as 
ǘƘŜ ΨaƛƴƧǳƴƎōŀƭ ¢ǊƛōŜΩΣ ŀǎ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ 
their language demographic. 
To advance their Native Title 
interests the Yugambeh have now 
ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘ ǘƘŜ ΨDanggan Balun 
Aboriginal CorporationΩΣ its website 
at https://fiverivers.net.au/people 
defining Goodjinburra Country as 
extending to the Brunswick River. 
 

In the Brisbane Courier on 9Feb1924 
Archibald Meston implied the 
Aboriginals of Byron and Currumbin 
spoke the same dialect, suggesting a 
ΨaƛƴƧǳƴƎōŀƭ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘƛƻƴΩ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ 
coastal clans of Bumberlin (Byron), 
Durungbil (Brunswick), Cudgenburra 
(Cudgen) and Tulgigin (Tweed Hds), 
and probably the Kombumerri Clan 
of Nerang, and lending credence to 
Norman TindaleΩǎ ŎƻƴǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ 
the Minjungbal communities ranged 
from Byron to Southport (see his 
map pg 28 below), and all hinging on 
Ƙƻǿ ΨǿƘŀǘΩ ƛǎ ǎŀƛŘ ōȅ ǿƘƻΣ ǿƘƛƭŜ 
Crowley says the Nganduwal dialect 
shared 75% of its lexicon with 
Ngarangwal (1978:145). 
 

Despite its title, the Minjungbal 
Aboriginal Cultural Centre at South 
Tweed Heads operates as an 
ƻƳƴƛōǳǎ Ψ¢ǿŜŜŘ !ōƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ /ŜƴǘǊŜΩΣ 
with the endorsement of the 
Bundjalung Council of Elders, and has 
no specific charter to curate for the 
Minjungbal of Byron-Brunswick or 
the Yugambeh Minjungbal. 
¢ƘŜ /ǳƭǘǳǊŀƭ /ŜƴǘǊŜΩǎ ƳǳǎŜǳƳ ǿŀǎ 
established by Margaret Kay (1904 
Broadwater, Richmond River ς 1967 
Murwillumbah), the daughter of 
ΨaƛƴƧǳƴƎōŀƭΩ ǿƻƳŀƴ Alice King.) 
 

Boundaries remain a contentious 
issue, and there appears to be no 
Bundjalung-Yugambeh peak body 
similar to the Bundjalung Council of 
Elders adjudicating over the makeup 
of its constituent parts. 

https://press-files.anu.edu.au/downloads/press/p71761/pdf/book.pdf
file:///C:/Users/Peter/Downloads/PL-C139%20(10).pdf
https://www.une.edu.au/connect/news/2017/07/une-lecturer-a-declared-a-champion-of-aboriginal-language
https://www.une.edu.au/connect/news/2017/07/une-lecturer-a-declared-a-champion-of-aboriginal-language
https://fiverivers.net.au/people
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Tyagarah in Nov1872. The first evidence that the name of the Brunswick Clan was 'Du-rung-bil' came in 1894 
from aŜǎǘƻƴΩǎ ŀƴǘŀƎƻƴƛǎǘ Ned Harper, a cedar-getter married to an Aboriginal and fluent in several dialects.6 
 

Conversely, linguist Dr Sharpe of UNE says that 'Jalanggir' was the name of the 'Brunswick clan', while The Science 
of Man WƻǳǊƴŀƭ ƻŦ нмaŀǊмфло ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƳƴŀƴǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪΩǎ 5ǳǊǳƴƎōƛƭ /ƭŀƴ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ Ψ.ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪ ōƭŀŎƪǎ 
ǿƘƻ Ŏŀƭƭ ǘƘŜƳǎŜƭǾŜǎ ά/Ƙ-Long Kƛǘǘȅέ.7 By-the-bye, Charlie Jarrett, a Ballina-based timber merchant, is said to have 
raised άCheelongΣέ ǘƘŜ ǿŜƭƭ-known Byron Bay aboriginal... in his employ for many years..., while a Jarrett associate, 
the prominent Henry French, storekeeper and timber merchant of Tyagarah and Brunswick, had an Aboriginal 
axeman in his employ named Chillong Barlow.8 One or the other was probably Geelong, who appeared before the 
Mullum court in 1913, and the same Geelong Billy who died at the ōƭŀŎƪΩǎ ŎŀƳǇΣ .ǊƻƪŜƴ IŜŀŘΣ ƛƴ мфмтΦ ΨKittyΩ 
features 3 times in the Brunswick Police Register 1890-91 as a victim of assault. (Also featuring in the register were 
Aboriginals άBobέΣ άGeorgeέΣ άMay MarshallέΣ άJack Cameronέ ŀƴŘ άTommy Doddέ). 
  

Joshua Bray, first Police Magistrate on the Brunswick whilst still wearing many Tweed hats, adds to the uncertainty 
ƻŦ ŘŜŦƛƴƛƴƎ ŀ Ψ.ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪ /ƭŀƴΩΣ ǎŀȅƛƴƎ The Coodjungburry tribe inhabiting the coast between Tweed and Brunswick 
used to mix very much with the Ballina Richmond River Heads blacksΧΦ9 But sometimes it ǿŀǎƴΩǘ amicable mixing 
says James Ainsworth, cedar-getter and teamster who settled at Ballina as a youngster in 1847, claiming that The 
Brunswick blacks, hostile to those of Ballina, would meet on the Seven Mile Beach as a battleground... to settle their 
differences.10 (And see footnote 78 ŀōƻǳǘ Ψ!ǊŀƪǿŀƭΩ ŎƭŀǎƘŜǎ against men from Brunswick Heads over landΧΦύ 
 

[Note that Ian Fox and Kyle Slabb in their history of the First People of the Tweed (note 6, pg 96) say The exact area 
occupied by the Goodjinburra is unclear, primarily because clan groups themselves can be further subdivided into 
local descent groups (or family groups) numbering around 10 to 30 peopleΧΦ !ƴŘ Some researchers suggest there 
was a group division at Cudgera Creek (or possibly Mooball Creek) between people more connected to the Tweed in 
the north, and those with the Brunswick in the southΧΣ ŀǎ ŜǾƛŘŜƴŎŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŎƛŘŜƴǘ ōŜƭƻǿΦϐ 
 

A journalist identified ΨKing CharlieΩ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ŀ ŦǊŀŎŀǎ at Wooyung in 187111 and recorded that ...There were any 
number of kings (stark naked, with one exception, the king who advanced to meet us being heavily clad in an old 
bell-topper and puggaree); King Charlie informed us that the causus belli was this: his uncle had killed a man on the 
Tweed with an axe, and the man's avengers were coming.... His two dozen sable warriorsΧ ǎƘƻǳǘŜŘ ŘŜŦƛŀƴŎŜΦΦΦ at 
the Tweed group. Then another King came along with a torch, and said, "No fight - too dark - plenty fight mobo-
warlow yanbelilah - Brunswick....12 The phrase 'There were any number of kings' implies several family/clan groups 

 
6 The Queenslander of 1Sep1894; And Chapter 3, pgs 97, 138 ς First People by Ian Fox and Kyle Slabb ς within The Fragile 
Edge; A Natural History of the Tweed Coast, edited by Michael DeGood, Bogangar 2016. (Copy available BVHS). 
[Harper recounts that in 1845 some members of the Tul-gi-gin Tribe killed a couple of cedar-getters at Kirrin Kirrin Crk 
όŎƻƭƭƻǉǳƛŀƭƭȅ ǊŜƴŀƳŜŘ ΨaǳǊŘŜǊƛƴƎ /ǊƪΩ ǳƴǘƛƭ ǊŜōǊŀƴŘŜŘ ŀǎ Ψaŀȅŀƭ /ǊƪΩΣ ¢ȅƎŀƭƎŀƘΣ ƛƴ мфмтύΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇŜǊǇŜǘǊŀǘƻǊǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŦŀƳƛƭƛŜǎ 
found a hideout at Ψthe head of the Richmond RiverΩ όǇǊƻōŀōƭȅ ƳŜŀƴƛƴƎ ¦ǇǇŜǊ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΩǎ /ǊŜŜƪύΣ ŦǊƻƳ ǿƘŜǊŜ ǘƘŜȅ ǿŜǊŜ ŘǊƛǾŜƴ 
out by 25 ΨǿƘƛǘŜ ǎŀǿȅŜǊǎΩ (of the Richmond)Χ after their location was apparently revealed by Ψthe Du-rung-bil (Brunswick) 
blacksΩΧ, who presumably were upset that the Tulgigin were trespassing on Durungbil country?] 
7 Dictionary of Coastal Bundjalung, including Bandjalang, Wiyabal, Minyangbal and Ngahnduwal, 2002, updated as All 
Yugambeh-Bundjalung Dictionary with Gramma, Texts, etc, by Dr Margaret Sharpe, published as a CD May2013, with 
Corrections to March 2015 (Copies of both available BVHS). Her source, the Science of Man journal of 21Mar1903 (ref nla.obj-
525829330), does not mention Jalanggir in the lists of words presumably collected by police Sgt John Evans, based at Ballina 
and Casino 1886-1894. (Best uneducated guess is that ΨWŀƭŀƴƎƎƛǊΩ ƳŜŀƴǎ ΨǿƻƳŀƴƭƛƪŜΩΚύ 
8 Mullumbimby Star 30Oct1913 and Tweed and Brunswick Advocate 24Jun1891. ('Chillong' recorded Lismore, ref Northern 
Star 16Jul1898. Billy Barlow possibly father? Or mŀȅōŜ ΨBilly the BullΩ of Tintenbar ς ref Glascott diary entry of 24Dec1865).   
9 SoM journal of 21Feb1901 at nla.obj-520992370. 
10  Casino and Kyogle Courier of 7Oct1922. 
11 Australian Town and Country Journal of 17Jun1871. 
12 {ƻa ƧƻǳǊƴŀƭǎ ƻŦ нмbƻǾмуфф ŀƴŘ нмaŀǊмфло ǎŀȅ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊŘǎ ΨwobboΩ ό¢ƻƳƻǊǊƻǿΣ ¢ƻ-Řŀȅ ŀƴŘ ¸ŜǎǘŜǊŘŀȅύ ŀƴŘ ΨwarloΩ ό¢ƘƻǳΣ 
¢ƘŜŜΣ ¸ƻǳ όǘǿƻύΣ ¸ƻǳΣ ¸ƻǳǊύ ŀǊŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǾƻŎŀōǳƭŀǊȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ΨCh-ƭƻƴƎ YƛǘǘȅΩ Clan, but are also general Tweed words, although not 
included in the short list of words ¦ǎŜŘ ŀǘ /ǳŘƎŜƴΣ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ōƭŀŎƪǎ ǿƘƻ ŀǊŜ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ά/ǳŘƎƛƴƎōŜǊǊȅέ. And Dr Sharpe says 
ΨyanbalehlaΩ ƳŜŀƴǎ ΨŎƻƳƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ƎƻƛƴƎΩ.  
(Note: In ¢ƘŜ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ wŀŎŜΥ LǘΩǎ hǊƛƎƛƴΣ [ŀƴƎǳŀƎŜǎΣ /ǳǎǘƻƳǎΧ ōȅ Edward M. Curr, Melbourne, 1887, at The Australian Race 
(archive.org), under words used Between Albert and Tweed Rivers, pg 233/нотΣ ΨǿƻƻōƻƻΩ ŀƴŘ ΨƳƻōƻΩ are given ŦƻǊ ΨȅŜǎǘŜǊŘŀȅ 
ŀƴŘ ǘƻƳƻǊǊƻǿΩ. At pg 242, under words used at Tweed River, supplied by Joshua BrayΣ Ω²ƻōōƻΩ ƛǎ ƎƛǾŜƴ ŦƻǊ ΨȅŜǎǘŜǊŘŀȅ ŀƴŘ 
ǘƻƳƻǊǊƻǿΩΦ At pgs 286/290, under words used at Richmond River/Ballina, supplied by Edmund RossΣ Ψ²ƻōōƻΩ ƛǎ ŀƎŀƛƴ ƎƛǾŜƴ 
ŦƻǊ ΨȅŜǎǘŜǊŘŀȅ ŀƴŘ ǘƻƳƻǊǊƻǿΩ. /ǳǊǊ Ƙŀǎ ƭŜŦǘ ǘƘŜ ƘǳƎŜ ŀǊŜŀ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ Ψ¢ǿŜŜŘΩ ŀƴŘ Ψ.ŀƭƭƛƴŀΩ ŀǎ Ψƴƻ ƳŀƴΩǎ ƭŀƴŘΩΣ ƻŦŦŜǊƛƴƎ ƴƻ 
specific groupings or vocab. In 1938 Norman Tindale nominated the Arakwal to fill the southern portion of the void.) 

http://nla.gov.au/nla.obj-525829330/view?partId=nla.obj-525942635#page/n10/mode/1up
http://nla.gov.au/nla.obj-525829330/view?partId=nla.obj-525942635#page/n10/mode/1up
http://nla.gov.au/nla.obj-520992370
https://ia800901.us.archive.org/29/items/australianracei02currgoog/australianracei02currgoog.pdf
https://ia800901.us.archive.org/29/items/australianracei02currgoog/australianracei02currgoog.pdf
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ƳŀƪƛƴƎ ǳǇ YƛƴƎ /ƘŀǊƭƛŜΩǎ ǎƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ aƛƴƧǳƴƎōŀƭ /ƻŀƭƛǘƛon, but they are lost to history, the only other known local clan 
claiming group membership being the Bumberin/Bumberlin/BurrumbumκΧ13 of Cape Byron under the sway of 'King 
Bobbie'. tǊŜǎǳƳŀōƭȅ ǘƘŜ Ψ¢ǿŜŜŘ !ǾŜƴƎŜǊǎΩ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎŜŘ ŀ ǳƴƛǘ ƻŦ the Coodjinburra Clan, also sheltering under the 
Minyangbal umbrella if ǘƘŜ /ƭŀƴΩǎ ŘƻƳŀƛƴ ŜȄǘŜƴŘed to the Brunswick ǇŜǊ .ǊŀȅΩǎ ŎƻƴǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ, notwithstanding that 
the Yugambeh People claim the Goodjingburra/Cudgenburra as their own (and within their Minjungbal collective).  
 

(During the above skirmish one or the other or both antagonist groups likely carried turtleshell shields... bearing the 
double red cross on a white ground, the war mark of the old Minyahgo-Wallo tribes... said Archie Meston in an 
address to the Royal Society of Queensland in 1892 during an exhibition of ethnological specimens recently collected 
by him..., noted The Queenslander of 18Jun1892. The Queensland Museum holds a copy of the complete text of 
aŜǎǘƻƴΩǎ ƭŜŎǘǳǊŜΦ It also ƘƻƭŘǎ ŀ Ψ¢ǿŜŜŘ wƛǾŜǊ .ƻƻƳŜǊŀƴƎΩ ŀŎǉǳƛǊŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ aŜǎǘƻƴ ƛƴ мфлмΦ) 
 

There was still a sizable group on the Brunswick in 1880 said another tourist, recording that A mob of blacks are 
camped here, and they are very useful as axemen, falling and squaring....14 On 10Jan1885 the Town and Country 
Journal carried the observations of a couple of commercial travellers who noted that Close to the hotel a number 
of blacks encamped.... It is not a very interesting camp, only a few married couples and about a dozen children.... 
There is, however, a half-caste woman, who has been brought up among Europeans, is fairly educated, and well 
domesticatedΧ, ǿƛǘƘ ƘǳǎōŀƴŘ άJack Jackέ ŀƴŘ ǘƘǊŜŜ ŎƘƛƭŘǊŜƴΦ  
 

άJack Jackέ earns good money at one of the millsΧ, probably the Cudgen Sugar Mill, to where he accompanies them 
next day. They lunched at WƻƘƴ hΩbŜƛƭΩǎ ǘƛƳōŜǊ ŎŀƳǇ ŀǘ Wooyung, the abode of a half-caste about 30 years of age, 
and blessed with two olive branches ς the fairest half-caste I have seen. She is white, and so is her daughter. She 
does not profess to keep an accommodation-house, but makes us comfortable for a short stay, providing tea, seed-
cake, jam, and preserved milkΧ, while ΨJack JackΩ points out the ancient fighting ground of the aboriginalsΧΦ 
 

By this time the selectors had almost completed carving up Durungbil Country into freehold blocks, introducing a 
new paradigm and a new era in relations, while the 1884 sale of subdivided village lots at the Heads itself had 
prompted the upgrading of MarshŀƭƭΩǎ 'Half-Way House' into the Ocean View Hotel. Eleven days after the above 
1885 report an anonymous Brunswick resident raised with the Northern Star15 the possibility of removing one of 
the nuisances of the Brunswick River. Some six weeks ago our publican (Mr R. Marshall), gave notice to the police, 
of two blacks of unsound mind, who were continually pilfering and making themselves generally obnoxious to the 
public at large. The police came and took them to the Tweed, and both Mr Marshall and Mr Nelson had to go also 
to prove the charge. From there they were sent to Lismore, and from the medical testimony, the gin was proved 
insane, but the blackfellow was dischargedΧ and remains ŀ Ŏƻƴǘƛƴǳŀƭ ƴǳƛǎŀƴŎŜΧΦ It seems to me quite unreasonable, 
that in a civilized place where there is police protection, the public should be so much annoyed by a mad blackfellow. 

 
13 Dr Sharpe ŘƻŜǎ ƴƻǘ ƭƛǎǘ Ψ.ǳƳōŜǊƭƛƴΩ ƻǊ ǾŀǊƛŀƴǘǎ ƛƴ ƘŜǊ dictionary (op.cit. note 7), but the SoM journal of 21Jun1900 says 
Bumerlin, of unstated origin, is a Camp for flying foxes? ¢ƘŜ мфрп ƳŀƴǳǎŎǊƛǇǘ Ψ!ōƻǊƛƎƛƴŜǎ ŀǘ .ȅǊƻƴ .ŀȅΩ held in file BB-10 at 
RRHS, records that ¢ƘŜǊŜ ǿŀǎ ŀ ƭŀǊƎŜ ŦƭȅƛƴƎ ŦƻȄ ŎŀƳǇ ŀ ŎƻǳǇƭŜ ƻŦ ƳƛƭŜǎ ƻǳǘ ƻŦ ǘƻǿƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ tŀƭƳ {ǿŀƳǇ ǳǇ {ƪƛƴƴŜǊΩǎ wƻŀŘΧΦ It 
was the blacks main supply of foodΧΦ The blacks, though often shifting camp, seldom went very far awayΧΣ and when after a 
time they had fouled their camp, they would set fire to it and move to another siteΧΦ  
The Sharpe dictionary says the Cudgenburra/Gudjihnbar/Coojingburra/CudginberryΧ /ƭŀƴ derives ƴŀƳŜ ŦǊƻƳ ƎǳŘƧƛƴ ΨǊŜŘΩΧΣ 
the colour of the clay found at Cudgen. 
14 The Queenslander 15May1880. 
15 Northern Star of 21Jan1885. (Aǘ ǘƘƛǎ ǘƛƳŜ ǘƘŜ .ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪ ŎŀƳŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ƧǳǊƛǎŘƛŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ΨCudgen Police Patrol DistrictΩΣ 
which sheltered under the umbrella ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ΨPolice District of Tweed RiverΩΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ tƻƭƛŎŜ 5ƛǎǘǊƛŎǘΣ ŜȄǘŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ b{²κvƭŘ 
ōƻǊŘŜǊ Řƻǿƴ ǘƻ .ǊƻƪŜƴ IŜŀŘΣ ƘŀŘ ōŜŜƴ ŎŀǊǾŜŘ ƻŦŦ ǘƘŜ ΨPolice District of Richmond RiverΩ ƛƴ мусрΦ .ǳǘ ƛǘ ǿŀǎƴΩǘ ǳƴǘƛƭ мутл ǘƘŀǘ 
a Court of Petty Sessions was established at Cudgen, at which time Courts were also opened at Casino, Ballina and Lismore. In 
1874 another was established at Murwillumbah and 2yrs later Joshua Bray was appointed Police Magistrate at both Tweed 
Courts. A District Court was established at Lismore in 1880, superseding Casino. (Northern Irishman Charles Hugh Fawcett of 
CŀƛǊȅ aƻǳƴǘ {ǘŀǘƛƻƴ όYȅƻƎƭŜύ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ǘƘŜ ŘƛǎǘǊƛŎǘΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ tƻƭƛŎŜ aŀƎƛǎǘǊŀǘŜ ŀǘ ¢ŀōǳƭŀƳ ό/ŀǎƛƴƻύ ƛƴ муснΦύ  
In 1886 a bit was hived off the Cudgen Patrol District to create the Police Patrol District of Brunswick River, which enforced 
the ǿƘƛǘŜƳŀƴΩǎ law from Burringbar to Broken Head. The white population continued to grow exponentially, necessitating 
another rearrangement of the Patrol Districts in 1891, the district south of Tyagarah becoming the Police Patrol District of 
Byron Bay, where a Court of Petty Sessions was opened in 1892.  
The Brunswick Court of Petty Sessions was abolished 1897 and re-established in Mullumbimby, while the Brunswick Patrol 
District was rebranded as the Mullumbimby Police Patrol District, at which time the Police District of Tweed River became the 
Murwillumbah Police District. Mullum police patrolled the district from Tyagarah to Crabbes Creek and inland to Rosebank. 
The Patrol District of Bangalow was created when a bit was hived off Byron Bay in 1905. 
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Yours, &c., A SETTLER. (¢ƘŜ Ψgin who was proved insaneΩ ƛǎ ƭƛƪŜƭȅ ǘƻ ōŜ ΨCrankyΩΣ An aboriginal girl who was brought 
up on a charge of being of unsound mind..., a month earlier.16 But the police argued that she had responded well 
to medical treatment, and had much improvedΧ, after being confined in the Lock Up for 3 weekǎΧ, and was 
discharged. The male was probably ~20yr old Tommy Dodd, a sojourner from Wiradjuri Country.) 
 

By this time too, work for the Aboriginals was drying up. The cedar was playing out and the timber-getters were no 
longer needing assistance in locating, harvesting and road cutting, the Glascott diaries inferring this important latter 
task of getting logs to market was the major source of employment for the Indigenous Australians (although 
payment in rum was hardly putting white bread on the table.17) The first selectors were also nearing completion of 
their compulsory 5yrs residency and no longer needing assistance in scrub clearing, leaving the Aboriginals without 
another regular source of income. Moreover, the rapidly increasing white population was taking these jobs anyway, 
at ƭŜŀǎǘ ǳƴǘƛƭ ΨIƛƴŘƻƻǎΩ ŀƴŘ ΨYŀƴŀƪŀǎΩ ǊŜ-ŎǊŜŀǘŜŘ ŀ ΨōƭŀŎƪ ƭŀōƻǳǊΩ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ.18 Between the censuses of 1871 and 1881 
ǘƘŜ ǿƘƛǘŜ ǇƻǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ψ¢ǿŜŜŘ wƛǾŜǊΩ όpossibly meaning the police district stretching to Broken Head) increased 
by 80% (from 449 isolated woodcutters and assorted adventurers to 806 civilised souls more inclined to clearing 
for farming), thereafter growing exponentially.  
 

In 1886 another Town and Country journalist said In close proximity 
to Marshall's Hotel was a black's camp, over which a sable 
patriarch rejoicing in the title of King Charlie of the Brunswick holds 
supreme sway. There were about twenty of these aborigines 
altogether. A few were full-blooded; but many were half-castes. A 
great deal of the rough housework in the hotel was done by these 
girls, and it was amusing to watch them scrubbing the floor, every 
now and then taking a rest to light their pipes, so that they could 
enjoy the pleasures of a comfortable smoke while engaged in their 
duties. On the Sunday the blacks smarten themselves up 
considerably, old Charlie coming out with an ancient pith helmet 
ornamented with a spotted crimson "puggaree" upon his head; 
while the women were nearly all attired in clean print dresses, 
gaudily set off with neckerchief of turkey red. 
 

That year was a big one for Brunswick Heads. A court house and police station had been completed and Constable 
W.C. Andrews posted in to take charge of the new Brunswick Patrol District, while Joshua Bray, Police Magistrate 
on the Tweed, was hearing cases at the new Court of Petty Sessions by the end of the year. Also completed by year-
end was the 2-storey Court House Hotel, erected behind MarshallΩǎ Ocean View in Fingal Street, which street was 
shortly to house Henry FrenchΩǎ н-storey store and residence. And travellers using the Lismore-Brunswick coach 
service, introduced in mid1885, got an easier ride with introduction of a Government ferry service (a row boat) to 
meet the Murbah coach on the beach at North Head. (The advent of a new up-river 'McCurdy's Wharf Ferry' in 1887 
and upgrading of the bridle track to Burringbar, enabled a straight-thru Lismore-Murbah coach service by 1888.) 

 
16 Northern Star of 13, 20 and 31Dec1884. Her story continues in the Northern Star of 14Sep1887. 
17 Glascott op.cit. note 4, pg 57. Diary entry of 8Nov1872 says Ψsent (£3) Sydney for a keg of rum for to pay blacks... for road 
making workΩ. (On 3Nov72 Ψabout half a mile from Tyagarah met some blacks who informed us that all the blacks about the 
Brunswick were employedΧ, but saw the Black Drumble Charley at Wilsons Creek who agreed to come to us Monday weekΩ.) 
All roads led to Tyagarah during the cedar boom years. 
18 Iƴ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ΨŀƛŘ ƎƛǾŜƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŀōƻǊƛƎƛƴŜǎΩ in 1881Σ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ŀ Ψnew boat &cΩ ǘƻ ǘƘƻǎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ΨBrunswick RiverΩΣ ǘƘŜ 
Protector of Aborigines said L ƘŀǾŜΧ ŎŀǳǎŜŘ ǘƘŜƳ ǘƻΧ ǳƴŘŜǊǎǘŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜȅ ŀǊŜ ƴƻǘ ǘƻ ǊŜƭȅ ŜƴǘƛǊŜƭȅ ǳǇƻƴ ŀ Ŏƻƴǘƛƴǳƻǳǎ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘ 
from the Government; they must be self-reliant, must work whenever they can get workΧΦ (Ref SMH of 11Sep1882.) 
In his report for the 12mths to 31Dec1882 at https://aiatsis.gov.au/sites/default/files/catalogue_resources/91912.pdf the 
Protector says I maintain the opinion I have always held with regard to the half-caste portion of the aborigines, viz., that they 
should be compelled to work in aid of their own requirementsΧΦ .ǊǳƴǎǿƛŎƪ ŀƴŘ .ȅǊƻƴ ǇǊŜǎǳƳŀōƭȅ ǎǘƛƭƭ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ 
Police District of Tweed River, which recorded 97 Full-Blood and 12 Half-Caste Aboriginals (aka ΨEuraliansΩ), working on farms, 
and employed by timber-getters. (Lismore District recorded 170FB and 15HC, principally employed by selectors to fall scrubΧ. 
Ballina Patrol District had 59FB and 2HC working for the sugar planters. Wardell recorded 36FB and 5HC, the greater portion 
mainly working sugar industry, but others are lazy, and seldom do anything other than catch fish (by hands) and live on 
animals of all kinds, killed by them on their travels. Woodburn had 21FB mainly in the sugar industry, with Women washing 
clothes and scrubbing floors for the residents. Coraki Patrol District had 18FB and 2HC employed ring-barking, farm-labouring, 
bullock-driving, &ŎΦΣ ǿƻƳŜƴ ǎƻƳŜǘƛƳŜǎ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳ ŘƻƳŜǎǘƛŎ ǿƻǊƪΧ. 

 
"Sunday afternoon in King Charley's camp"Χ ŀǘ 

Brunswick Heads, said the caption in the  
Town and Country Journal 16Oct1886. 

https://aiatsis.gov.au/sites/default/files/catalogue_resources/91912.pdf


 8 

 

In 1887 Constable Andrews compiled his first population return for the Police Patrol District of Brunswick River, 
reporting an Aboriginal population of 38 within his bailiwick, presumably ƳŜŀƴƛƴƎ ΨŦǳƭƭ-ōƭƻƻŘǎΩ distributed over the 
area from Broken Head to Burringbar.19 
   

However, by the arrival of the 1890s Depression things were on the slide and in 1891 ornithologist Archibald James 
Campbell found the Brunswick settlement to be a primitive and out-of-the-ǿƻǊƭŘ ǇƭŀŎŜΧ where he heard 
blackfellows wrangling in high voices during the night in the hotel yard.... I succeed in finding a blackfellow's humpy 
where an ugly chap is cooking a bandicoot by placing it on the fire intact.... He appears surly, so I betake myself to 
another humpy, where I find three "gins" asleep όƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǿƘƻƳ ǿŀǎ ΨYƛǘǘȅΩ), and a fine blackfellow outside... whose 
name is "Mobal," of the Burringbah tribeΧΦ (Ref Northern Star of 11Jun1892, and pages 31-35 below). 
 

(Despite /ŀƳǇōŜƭƭΩǎ ΨǇǊƛƳƛǘƛǾŜΩ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ, by the census of 
Apr1891 Brunswick Heads was still the largest village in the 
district, boasting between 73 and 84 residents, depending 
on interpretation of Matthew ChislerΩǎ /ƻƭƭŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ {ƘŜŜǘǎ, or 
87 souls according to the Northern Star of 16May1894. On 
the other hand, David JarmanΩǎ /ƻƭƭŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ {ƘŜŜǘǎ show the 
population of Byron Bay was only 69 by Apr1891, despite the 
advent of the jetty and growth in the import-export trade. 
Conversely, the Clarence and Richmond Examiner of 
30May1891 reckoned CavvanbaΧ contained a population 
close upon 50 souls, and this did not include four travellers.) 

 

In 1926 the Bora Ring on the Brunswick cricket ground, (the ex-police paddock, ~ ¾ mile north of Ψ5ƻŘŘǎ DǊŀǎǎΩ), 
was 'still discernible... where the natives of old went through their spectacular and weird ceremonies....20 In 1939 
Fred Fordham, Brunswick Heads Public School Headmaster 1928-48, brought to public attention the existence of a 
35ft long x 15ft high mound on Kings Creek, suggesting an important Aboriginal cultural centre.21 The purported 
ceremonial mound was littered with rocks identified as sandstone and supposedly bearing carved markings, but 
general farm clearance has seen most of the rocks disappear, while most of the mound has been bulldozed.22 (Fred 
also accumulated a substantial number of Aboriginal artefacts during his tenure, displayed in glass cases in an annex 
to the original school building. Tragically, this collection has also disappeared). 

 
19 Richmond River Herald 1Jul1887: The returns recently compiled show the number of aboriginesΧ as follows: Casino 325 
(largest by far of the 23 patrol districts from Grafton to Tweed), Lismore 114, Coraki 36, Wardell 12, Ballina 35, Woodburn 14, 
Broadwater 21, Murwillumbah 84, Tumbulgum 9, Cudgen 12, Brunswick 38ΧΦ Total 1075. (Numbers continued in rapid 
ŘŜŎƭƛƴŜΣ ƴƻǘ ƘŜƭǇŜŘ ŀƭƻƴƎ ōȅ ǎǳŎƘ ǘƘƛƴƎǎ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƻǳǘōǊŜŀƪ ƻŦ ΨƭƻŀǘƘǎƻƳŜΣ ƛƴŦŜŎǘƛƻǳǎ ŘƛǎƻǊŘŜǊΩ in Lismore, said the Northern Star 
мп{ŜǇут όŦŜŀǘǳǊƛƴƎ ΨCrankyΩύΣ нрWŀƴууΣ ммCŜōууΣ Clarence Examiner 13Mar88, 25Aug88, Maitland Mercury 18Aug88). 
20 The Brisbane Courier 2Dec1926. Also asserts that When the natives gathered for their annual corroboree, the whites 
ŀǎǎƛǎǘŜŘ ǘƘŜƳ ƛƴ ǇǊƻŎǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜƛǊ άǘǳŎƪŜǊέ ōȅ ǎƘƻƻǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ƎŀƳŜΦΦΦ ōŜŀǘŜƴ ƻǳǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǎŎǊǳō ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƴŀǘƛǾŜǎΦΦΦΦ 
21 Mullumbimby Star of 28Jul1939.  
22 Over the period 1964-1999 Dave Marrinon (ex-Mullumbimby High School Teacher) collected voluminous documents on 
the saga during his own research of the mound, including original diaries, sketches and correspondence between Fordham, 
eccentric Frederic Slater (of the Archaeological and Educational Research Society), Fred McCarthy (Curator of Anthropology 
at the Australian Museum who allegedly coined the phrase 'Fordham's Folly') and various other authorities. Accredited 
researchers may view the documents at BVHS. Visiting the site requires the permission of the NSW Office of Heritage and 
Environment as well as the landowner. See ΨFirst People of the Brunswick - Part 2Ω ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǎǘƻǊȅ ƻƴ ΨCƻǊŘƘŀƳΩǎ CƻƭƭȅΩ. 

 
aŀǊǎƘŀƭƭΩǎ ΨhƭŘ /ŜŘŀǊ ²ƘŀǊŦΩ ǎǘƛƭƭ ŜȄǘŀƴǘ ƻƴ ΨtƻǊǘƛƻƴ мΩ 
when mapped by surveyor E.H. Johnson in May1893.  

 
"Brunswick Township" from the Australian Town and Country 

Journal of 16Oct1886. (Ocean View Hotel right, with Court House 
Hotel in course of construction at the rear in Fingal St.) 
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[A likely source of the purported sandstone rocks is Broken Head, perhaps indicating a co-operative arrangement 
between the Durungbil and Bumberlin Clans. Also noteworthy is that the mound was next to Robert MarshallΩǎ 
мутн ǎŜƭŜŎǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ Ψ/ƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ tǳǊŎƘŀǎŜΩ in what became the Byron Shire, upon which Marshall established 
a timber camp, store, wharf and boat shed, presupposing that it was already a conveniently cleared site, presenting 
him with a relative oasis amongst the dense forest. And about a third of a mile north of the mound the discovery 
of the ƳȅǎǘŜǊƛƻǳǎ Ψōƻŀǘ ŀƴŘ ŀƴŎƘƻǊ ǊƻŎƪǎΩ ŀƭƭǳŘed to The Three Brothers creation legend. (See ΨǇƻǊǘƛƻƴ ƳŀǇϥ ŀōƻǾŜ 
and ΨFirst People of the Brunswick - Part 2Ω at https://www.mullumbimbymuseum.org.au/pioneer-articles/ )] 
 

Bora rings were also 
found at Tyagarah and 
Mullumbimby, the latter 
allegedly still extant 
during the sojourn of the 
railway navvies 1892-
94.24 GlascottΩǎ diaries 
also suggest a fair 
Aboriginal presence at 
Tyagarah during the 
1870s. This seems to be 
still the case in 1884 
when the Town and 
Country Journal of 
10Jan1885 recorded that 
a couple of commercial 
travellers visited Henry 
FrenchΩǎ ǎǘƻǊŜ ŀǘ 
ΨbǳōƘƻȅƎǳƳΩΣ Tyagarah, then left for Byron Bay and after passing the native camps we made for the crossing at the 
creek..., ǘƘŜ ǇƭǳǊŀƭ ΨŎŀƳǇǎΩ possibly implying a largish interrelated community? (The travelling salesmen probably 
ǘƻƻƪ ǘƘŜ ǊƻǳǘŜ ŀƭƻƴƎ ǿƘŀǘ ƛǎ ƴƻǿ DǊŀȅΩǎ [ŀƴŜΣ ǿƘŜǊŜ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƳŀƛƴǎ ƻŦ ŀ ƳƛŘŘŜƴ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ŦƻǳƴŘ ƴŜŀǊ its intersection 
with the ΨOld Brunswick RoadΩ.) 
 

The original family group around Mullumbimby remains a mystery, but as happened to other local family units, if 
not clans, they were probably displaced to Brunswick Heads upon arrival of the Caucasians, as befell the small family 
group at "Gingongong" ό/ƘƛƴŀƳŀƴΩǎ IƛƭƭΣ ¸ŜƭƎǳƴ) which, after the coming of the selectors and imposition of the new 
concept of land tenure, ƛƴŎƭǳǎƛǾŜ ƻŦ ΨŦŜƴŎƛƴƎΩΣ drifted to the mouth of the Brunswick, probably via a sojourn at New 
Brighton.25  
 

So a large contingent of mixed family groups, most under the Minjungbal umbrella if not the Durungbil, developed 
at Brunswick Heads under the sway of 'Drumble Charlie', although by this time the accelerating disintegration of 
traditional clan structures and boundaries had seen Aboriginals from further afield taking up residence or transiting 
through.26 They congregated in the vicinity of Robert Marshall's Hotel until John Perry MLA wrote to the Minister 
for Lands on 14Mar1890 advising that The aboriginals of the Brunswick River are desirous of having a piece of land 
reserved as a homeΧΦ27 
 

 
23 The Byron Shire Echo of 18Apr1990 gives a potted history of the spiral stone circles and their Aboriginal significance. (The 
stones apparently represent the spirits of Leo and Leva, whose marriage is a metaphor for the union of Ngarakwal-Githabul. 
The legend is recounted by Milli Boyd at https://aso.gov.au/titles/documentaries/eelemarni/clip1/ ς ref footnote 79, pg27.  
24 74yr old Jack Coghlan, reminiscing to the Mullumbimby Star 6Jun1961, claimed the Bora Ring was on the corner of 
Burringbar and Stuart Streets, now occupied by the newsagency. (His great niece Shelly Hollis-Neath also claims Jack's sister, 
Kate, witnessed corroborees where the car park next Byron Shire council chambers now lies. Kate was 5yrs old when the 
Coghlans/Coughlins settled Mullum 1894. Ref Shelly's memoire 'Kate' held BVHS.) 
25 Fox Op cit note2 (pg 34 ƻŦ ΨtŀǘƘǿŀȅǎΩύ. 
26 In the Northern Star of 20Nov1889 Constable Andrews, oic Brunswick Police Patrol District, states that a 17yr old 
Aboriginal named ΨDŜƻǊƎŜΩ ǿŀǎ a New England boy; three years ago he came to the Brunswick.... And Tommy Dodd, who 
appeared regularly before the Cudgen/Brunswick/Mullum Courts 1884-97, was a Wiradjuri man. 
27 The sequence of events in the whole saga of the Brunswick Aboriginal Reserve is preserved in State Records Office Box 
20/7290, Item No 1891/7931. (Copies of the folios available BVHS). 

 
In 1968 two spiral stone circles were found at 

Tyagarah Swamp and in 1987 relocated to Heritage 
Park at Mullumbimby.23 

 
Unfortunately souveniring and 

vandalism meant their removal to 
the BVHS Museum in 2014. 

https://www.mullumbimbymuseum.org.au/pioneer-articles/
https://aso.gov.au/titles/documentaries/eelemarni/clip1/



